UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

5-3-2017

State v. Austin Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44276

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Justin Keith Austin appeals from his judgment of conviction and challenges the district court's order granting the State's motion in limine to exclude expert testimony regarding the alcohol concentration in his system at the time he was driving. Mr. Austin asserts that the district court abused its discretion when it granted the State's motion because the precedent that it relied on did not support its decision. Alternatively, if this Court finds that the district court did not abuse its discretion in applying that precedent, Mr. Austin asserts that the district court abused its discretion when it granted the State's motion because the precedent establishes an unconstitutional prohibition on a defendant's right to present a complete defense. As such, this Court should overrule or narrow the precedent on which the district court relied. In the further alternative, if this Court holds that the precedent does not violate Mr. Austin's right to present a complete defense, Mr. Austin argues that the precedent renders Idaho's driving under the influence statute overbroad and void for vagueness as applied to this case.

Statement of the Facts and Course of Proceedings

In April of 2015, Mr. Austin finished his shift as a server in a restaurant at approximately midnight. (Tr. Vol.2, p.314, L.5 – p.315, L.10.)¹ When he left work, he drove to a Jackson's market to buy cigarettes and a beer. (Tr. Vol.2, p.316, Ls.10-14.)

¹ The transcripts in this case are contained in two independently bound volumes. For purposes of clarity, the volume containing the motion to suppress hearing held on October 14, 2015, the pretrial conference held on March 9, 2016, voir dire, opening statements, jury instructions, and closing arguments will be referred to as "Tr. Vol.1" The volume containing the pretrial conference held on January 20, 2016, the jury trial, and sentencing hearing will be referred to as "Tr. Vol.2"

When he walked into the market, he realized that all he had with him was a \$100 bill, so he got back in his car and drove towards his home because he knew that convenience stores typically cannot make change for a large bill late at night. (Tr. Vol.2, p.316, L.15 – p.317, L.2.) However, since he still needed change, he stopped at a bar across the street from his apartment and ordered a shot of whiskey and a beer. (Tr. Vol.2, p.313, Ls.19-23, p.317, Ls.3-19.) He was in the bar about ten minutes, and, on his way out someone he knew bought him another shot, which he drank quickly before he left. (Tr. Vol.2, p.318, L.2 – p.319, L.10.) He then drove to a Maverick market that was about a quarter mile away, so he could buy the cigarettes and beer. (Tr. Vol.2, p.319, L.11 – p.320, L.6.) After that, he drove home. (Tr. Vol.2, p.320, Ls.7-9.)

As he drove into his apartment complex, Mr. Austin was stopped by Ada County Sheriff Deputy Richardson for failing to use his turn signal. (Tr. Vol.2, p.36, L.21 – p.38, L.4.) Deputy Richardson said he made the stop at 12:25 a.m. (Tr. Vol.2, p.175, Ls.20-25.) When he approached Mr. Austin's car, Deputy Richardson said he noticed the smell of alcohol as he talked with Mr. Austin. (Tr. Vol.2, p.41, Ls.4-7.) Therefore, after speaking with Mr. Austin, Deputy Richardson "called for an assist," so that he could perform field sobriety tests. (Tr. Vol.2, p.43, L.20 – p.44, L.19.) Deputy Richardson estimated that it took approximately five or ten minutes for the other deputy to arrive. (Tr. Vol.2, p.176, Ls.8-19.) After that deputy arrived, Deputy Richardson asked Mr. Austin if he had any physical problems that could affect his ability to perform field sobriety tests. (Tr. Vol.2, p.180, L.3.) Mr. Austin said he had gout which caused him major joint pain. (Tr. Vol.2, p.180, Ls.4-13.) During the tests, Mr. Austin also mentioned several times that his feet and ankles were very painful, so he was

struggling with the tests. (Tr. Vol.2, p.181, Ls.4-11; State's Exhibit 2 at 0:35 – 0:45, 2:30 – 3:15.) Deputy Richardson testified that, at the conclusion of those tests, he believed Mr. Austin was impaired and arrested him. (Tr. Vol.2, p.69, L.23 – p.70, L.14.)

At that point, Deputy Richardson put Mr. Austin in the back of his patrol car for a fifteen minute "observation period" prior to administering breath tests. (Tr. Vol.2, p.195, Ls.2-22.) After that period—approximately 30 minutes after he was originally stopped— Mr. Austin gave two breath samples. (Tr. Vol.2, p.199, Ls.4-14.) The results of the two tests showed an alcohol concentration of .085 and .086. (Tr. Vol.2, p.98, Ls.3-23; State's Exhibit 3.)

Mr. Austin was charged by information with operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of alcohol and/or drugs. (R., p.40.) The State charged Mr. Austin under alternate theories; it alleged that he was driving while under the influence or driving with an alcohol concentration of .08 or more (a per se violation). (R., p.41.) The case was brought as a felony because Mr. Austin had two previous DUI convictions in Nevada within the preceding ten years. (*See* State's Exhibits 4 and 5.) Prior to trial, in response to the State's request for discovery, Mr. Austin indicated he would call Dr. Loring Beals as an expert witness to testify that—because of rising alcohol concentration levels— Mr. Austin's alcohol concentration when he was driving may have been below .08. (R., p.99.) He indicated he would use a process, which considers body weight and height along with the time alcohol was consumed, to extrapolate the test result back to the time of driving. (R., pp.120-21.)

The State then filed a motion in limine to exclude any testimony from Dr. Beals regarding Mr. Austin's alcohol concentration at the time he was driving. (R., pp.108-

109.) In its memorandum in support of the motion, the State noted that Dr. Beals submitted a letter in which he said that, based on Mr. Austin's physical characteristics, he calculated that his alcohol concentration at the time he was driving would have been approximately .06 to .065 "rising to the higher level by the time he was actually tested a half hour later." (R., p.114.) The State argued that, under *Elias-Cruz v. Idaho Department of Transportation*, 153 Idaho 200 (2012), and *State v. Tomlinson*, 159 Idaho 112 (Ct. App. 2015), evidence of Mr. Austin's alcohol concentration while he was driving was not relevant. (R., pp.114-118.)

Mr. Austin opposed the motion and argued that he had a constitutional right to present a complete defense, that evidence of a defendant's alcohol concentration at the time he was driving was relevant, and that his case was distinguishable from *Tomlinson* and *Elias-Cruz.* (R., pp.119-124.) Notably, he wrote that the Court of Appeals in *Tomlinson* reiterated that the "lapse of time prior to the extraction of samples goes to the weight to be afforded the test results and not to their admissibility." (R., p.123.) He went on to argue that "[t]he reason why the lapse of time is relevant is that it goes to the fundamental issue of the charge: whether the suspect . . . had an alcohol concentration of .08 or higher at the time of driving." (R., p.123.) He also argued that, because alcohol concentration at the time of driving is an element of the crime, expert testimony to that effect is relevant because it has a "tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable" (R., p.123.) Finally, he wrote, "Clearly, such evidence directly goes towards the fundamental issue of the charge . . . whether or not the defendant had an alcohol

concentration of .08 or higher at the time he was driving. (R., p.123 (emphasis in original).)

At a pretrial conference, the parties discussed the motion. (See Tr. Vol.1, pp.45-71.) The State argued that expert testimony regarding Mr. Austin's alcohol concentration at the time he was driving was not relevant because "the standard under the statute as the Court of Appeals and Supreme Court have interpreted it is the BAC at the time of the test." (Tr. Vol.1, p.47, Ls.14-21.) The State went on to say, "The courts have explicitly stated . . . that the State, in order to present evidence of BAC at trial, does not need to present any kind of testimony that relates that BAC test back to the time of driving." (Tr. Vol.1, p.48, Ls.2-7.)

The district court then asked what would happen if the test was given two days after the time of driving. (Tr. Vol.1, p.48, Ls.9-12.) The State noted that the lapse of time between driving and taking the test is relevant and can be admitted. (Tr. Vol.1, p.48, L.13 – p.49, L.1.) The district court then asked, "Suppose . . . a defendant was stopped, charged, and then he had some alcohol and then he was tested." (Tr. Vol.1, p.50, Ls.9-12.) The district court went on to say that there was a due process issue with the State's premise because if there was a proper foundation laid to establish that "the BAC was less than .08 at the time the defendant was driving, regardless of the fact that when the test was taken it was over .08, that in effect the statute is preventing the defendant from establishing or putting on evidence of a valid defense and thereby depriving him of his due process rights." (Tr. Vol.1, p.56, L24 – p.57, L.24.) In response, the State argued that there was no constitutional right to present irrelevant evidence, and evidence of Mr. Austin's alcohol concentration when he was driving was

irrelevant because the State is not required to extrapolate back to the time of driving under the per se theory. (Tr. Vol.1, p.57, L.18 – p.58, L.5.) The district court then asked if there was a due process analysis in either *Elias-Cruz* or *Tomlinson*, and the State was unsure.² (Tr. Vol.1, p.58, Ls.6-14.)

Mr. Austin's counsel made several arguments. First, he argued that it was not clear that a rising alcohol concentration defense is irrelevant under *Tomlinson* because that statement was made in *dicta* by the Court of Appeals and was therefore not binding on the issue. (Tr. Vol.1, p.58, L.23 – p.59, L.6.) He then referred to the fact that the lapse of time between driving and taking the test is relevant because it addressed whether the driver was "under the influence or over the legal limit at the time of driving." (Tr. Vol.1, p.59, Ls.7-15.) He noted that it made no sense for a court to acknowledge the relevance of such information but then prevent a person from "drawing that out" with scientific testimony. (Tr. Vol.1, p.59, Ls.15-18.)

He also pointed out that the statute very clearly "states that it is the conjunction of either impairment or . . . alcohol concentration greater than .08 and driving." (Tr. Vol.1, p.59, Ls.19-23.) He went on to argue that the statute was not "so open-ended that simply a test within a period of time after driving is criminal conduct." (Tr. Vol.1, p.59, Ls.23-25.) He noted that Nevada had a statute under which a defendant could be convicted of a per se violation "within a certain time frame of driving," but Idaho's "statute clearly states greater than .08 and driving." (Tr. Vol.1, p.60, Ls.1-6.) He then reiterated that Mr. Austin had a due process right to present a defense to each element

² In *Elias-Cruz*, in response to a due process challenge, the Court stated that there was "no due process violation in excluding irrelevant evidence." 153 Idaho at 205.

of the crime charged, and one of those was driving with an alcohol concentration of .08 or higher. (Tr. Vol.1, p.63, Ls.11-15.)

Subsequently, the district court asked the State whether the statute indicated when the alcohol concentration test had to be given. (Tr. Vol.1, p.68, Ls.6-7.) The State said that there was no requirement for that, and the district court said, "It could be two days afterwards." (Tr. Vol.1, p.68, L.17.) The State replied, "Yeah, I mean, theoretically you could try to prosecute someone—I seriously doubt that any prosecutor in his right mind would try that. But . . . there's no time limit in Idaho." (Tr. Vol.1, p.68, Ls.18-22.)

The district court did not rule on the motion in limine that day. It said it was "leaning" towards a finding that the "the State's position may impair the defendant's due process right to a fair trial and it could be a due process violation." (Tr. Vol.1, p.69, Ls.19-24.) On the first day of trial, however, the district court held that—under the relevant precedent—evidence of Mr. Austin's alcohol concentration at the time of driving was irrelevant under the per se theory but had to be admitted under the impairment theory and thus granted the State's motion. (Tr. Vol.2, p.10, L.13 – p.11, L.6, p.28, Ls.4-15.)

Mr. Austin's counsel confirmed that "integral to Mr. Austin's defense to the per se theory is that he was under the legal limit at the time of driving. That is the evidence that we would seek to establish through our expert testimony." (Tr. Vol.2, p.11, L.25 – p.12, L.4.) The district court said, "I understand that . . . and while I personally agree with . . . the rationale of your thought, I think it's contrary to the existing case law in Idaho." (Tr. Vol.2, p.12, Ls.5-8.) After more discussion, Mr. Austin's counsel reiterated

his concern that he should be able to present extrapolation evidence "under his due process rights applied to the state under the 14th Amendment of the United States Constitution." (Tr. Vol.2, p.26, Ls.16-25.) The district court said, "Conceptually, I'll agree with you . . . and if I had a blank tablet that I was operating under, I would say, you know, you're right. But the Court of Appeals and the Supreme Court have ruled on the issue. Admittedly I don't think they ever discussed the due process concept." (Tr. Vol.2, p.27, Ls.4-10.)

Ultimately, the jury found Mr. Austin guilty. (R., p.156; Tr. Vol.1, p.282, Ls.9-12.) However, the jurors were instructed that they did not need to agree on a particular theory, so there was no indication as to whether he was convicted under the per se theory or the driving under the influence theory. (R., pp.144-45; Tr. Vol.1, p.258, L.4 – p.259, L.6.) Subsequently, the district court withheld judgment and placed Mr. Austin on probation for seven years. (R., pp.161-63.) Mr. Austin filed a notice of appeal that was timely from the district court's order withholding judgment and order of probation. (R., pp.169-70.)

<u>ISSUES</u>

- 1. Did the district court abuse its discretion when it granted the State's motion in limine because it did not apply the relevant precedent correctly and violated Mr. Austin's due process right to present a complete defense?
- 2. Does the dicta in *Tomlinson* render Idaho Code § 18-8004 overbroad and void for vagueness as applied?

ARGUMENT

١.

<u>The District Court Abused Its Discretion When It Granted The State's Motion In Limine</u> <u>Because It Did Not Interpret Or Apply The Relevant Precedent Correctly, And It Violated</u> <u>Mr. Austin's Constitutional Right To Present A Complete Defense</u>

A. Introduction

Idaho's DUI statute unambiguously states that driving with an alcohol concentration over the legal limit is unlawful. Therefore, one element the State must prove is that the driver's alcohol concentration be over the legal limit, at the time of driving. As due process requires the State to prove every element of a crime beyond a reasonable doubt, scientific evidence regarding Mr. Austin's alcohol concentration when he was driving was relevant, and Mr. Austin should have been allowed to present that evidence to rebut the State's test result evidence and present a complete defense.

B. Standard Of Review

A district court's decision on a motion in limine is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Richardson*, 156 Idaho 524, 527 (2014). A trial court abuses its discretion unless it "(1) recognizes the issue as one of discretion, (2) acts within the boundaries of its discretion and applies the applicable legal standards, and (3) reaches the decision through an exercise of reason." *State v. Guess*, 154 Idaho 521, 528 (2013) (citation omitted).

C. <u>Under The Plain Language Of I.C. § 18-8004(1)</u>, <u>One Element Of The Prohibited</u> <u>Conduct is "Driving," So Evidence Of The Driver's Condition While Driving Is</u> <u>Plainly Relevant, And The District Court Did Not Interpret The Relevant</u> <u>Precedent Correctly</u>

Mr. Austin had a right to present scientific evidence that his alcohol concentration, when he was driving, was not over the legal limit. However, despite its acknowledgment that it "[c]onceptually" agreed that Mr. Austin had a due process right to present such evidence, the district court held that such evidence was irrelevant under *Elias-Cruz v. Idaho Department of Transportation*, 153 Idaho 200 (2012) and *State v. Tomlinson*, 159 Idaho 112 (Ct. App. 2015), *review denied* (Oct. 14, 2015). (See Tr., Vol.2, p.26, L.21 – p.27, L.12.)³ In this case, given that *Elias-Cruz* concerned the margin of error inherent in the machinery used for breath testing, and the Court of Appeals' statements in *Tomlinson* regarding a situation such as the one presented in this case were erroneous dicta, the district court abused its discretion when it granted the State's motion in limine because it did not apply the applicable legal standards or reach its decision through an exercise of reason. Alternatively, *Tomlinson* should be overruled or narrowed to its facts.

Elias-Cruz and *Tomlinson* did not remove the element of driving from the driving under the influence statute. Indeed, the prohibited conduct is not "submitting to breath testing when over the limit." The statute specifically prohibits driving when over the limit. Therefore, a conclusion that evidence of a driver's condition while driving is

³ The district court ruled from the bench on this issue and thus did not issue a written decision. However, the arguments put forward by the State focused on these two cases (See e.g. Tr. Vol.1, p.46, L.14 – p.59, L.6), and a review of the discussions and briefing on the motion in limine makes it clear that the district court based its decision on this precedent. (R., pp.114-118).

irrelevant to his defense is unreasonable and misinterprets precedent.

The conduct prohibited by statute reads as follows: "It is unlawful for any person who is under the influence of alcohol, drugs or any other intoxicating substances, or who has an alcohol concentration of .08, as defined in subsection (4) of this section, or more, as shown by an analysis of his blood, breath, or urine, *to drive* or be in actual physical control of a motor vehicle" Idaho Code § 18-8004(1)(a) (emphasis added). Clearly, the statute makes *driving* under the influence illegal.

Similarly, the Idaho pattern jury instructions, approved by this Court in 2010, list the elements as follows: (1) On or about a certain date; (2) in the State of Idaho; (3) the defendant *drove* or was in actual physical control of; (4) a motor vehicle; (5) upon a highway, street or bridge or upon public or private property open to the public; (6) while under the influence of alcohol or *while having* an alcohol concentration of 0.08 or more as shown by an analysis of the defendant's blood, urine, or breath. (ICJI 1000 (emphasis added).)

Nevertheless, the district court concluded, after Mr. Austin's counsel argued "certainly integral to Mr. Austin's defense to the per se theory is that he was under the legal limit at the time of driving," (Tr. Vol.2, p.11, L.25 – p.12, L.4), that the argument was "contrary to the existing case law in Idaho" because such evidence was irrelevant. (Tr. Vol.2, p.12, Ls.5-8). This conclusion misinterpreted and misapplied the precedent.

Tomlinson and Elias-Cruz relied on earlier cases that stand for the proposition that the State does not have to extrapolate back from the time of test results to prove a *per se* theory of a violation of the statute—as distinct from the impairment theory, where the State must provide such evidence if it intends to introduce evidence of alcohol

concentration to support the impairment charge. See State v. Sutliff, 97 Idaho 523 (1976); State v. Robinette, 141 Idaho 110 (2005). But it is an illogical, and unconstitutional, leap to say that because the State is not required to prove something, the defendant is not even permitted to introduce evidence of it.

Subsection (4) of the statute, which was at issue in *Elias-Cruz*—and is about the method and machinery of testing only—cannot be interpreted in such a way as to swallow up and ignore Subsection (1) of the statute, which criminalizes the conduct of *driving* in a certain condition.

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