UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

6-28-2017

State v. Austin Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44276

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

Austin's due process argument is based upon a different reading of I.C. § 18-8004 than the one given to it in <u>Elias-Cruz</u>, <u>Tomlinson</u>, and <u>Jones</u>. Under Idaho law interpreting I.C. § 18-8004, the extrapolation evidence is irrelevant. There is no constitutional right to present irrelevant evidence. <u>State v. Marks</u>, 156 Idaho 559, 563, 328 P.3d 539, 543 (Ct. App. 2014) (constitutional right to present a defense does not "permit an accused to present irrelevant evidence"). The Supreme Court said as much in <u>Elias-Cruz</u>: "There is no due process violation in excluding irrelevant evidence. There is no constitutional right to drive with alcohol in one's system." 153 Idaho at 205, 280 P.3d at 708. Austin's interpretation of Idaho Code § 18-8004 is contrary to both the plain language of the statute and the Idaho appellate Courts' repeated interpretation of it. His proposed extrapolation evidence is irrelevant, and there is no constitutional right to present irrelevant evidence.

II. <u>Austin Has Failed To Establish It Was Fundamental Error For The District Court</u> <u>To Not Rule Idaho Code § 18-8004 Is Unconstitutional</u>

A. Introduction

For the first time on appeal Austin argues that Idaho Code § 18-8004 is void for vagueness and is unconstitutionally overbroad. (See Appellant's brief, pp. 24-34.) Because these theories were not presented to the district court they

are reviewed for fundamental error on appeal. Austin has failed to show it was fundamental error for the district court to not *sua sponte* rule I.C. § 18-8004 is unconstitutional.

B. <u>Standard Of Review</u>

Where the constitutionality of a statute is challenged, the appellate court reviews it *de novo*. <u>State v. Korsen</u>, 138 Idaho 706, 711, 69 P.3d 126, 131 (2003). The party challenging the constitutionality of the statute must overcome a strong presumption of constitutionality and clearly show the invalidity of the statute. <u>Id.</u> The appellate court is obligated to seek a construction of a statute that upholds its constitutionality. <u>Id.</u>

C. <u>The District Court Did Not Commit Fundamental Error By Not Sua Sponte</u> <u>Ruling I.C. § 18-8004 Unconstitutional</u>

Austin did not move the district court to rule that I.C. § 18-8004 was void for vagueness or unconstitutionally overbroad. On appeal, Austin concedes that "[t]his issue was not directly raised below." (Appellant's brief, p. 24.) However, Austin argues that the constitutionality of I.C. § 18-8004 was preserved because the district court asked questions that "revealed its concern about vagueness in particular." (Id.) Questions by the district court do not amount to Austin raising the issue that I.C. § 18-8004 was unconstitutionally vague or overbroad. These were not theories advanced by Austin before the district court.

"Issues not raised below will not be considered by this court on appeal, and the parties will be held to the theory upon which the case was presented to the lower court." <u>State v. Garcia-Rodriguez</u>, No. 44443, 2017 WL 2569786, at *3 (Idaho June 14, 2017) (citing <u>Heckman Ranches, Inc. v. State, By & Through</u> <u>Dep't of Pub. Lands</u>, 99 Idaho 793, 799–800, 589 P.2d 540, 546–47 (1979); <u>Marchbanks v. Roll</u>, 142 Idaho 117, 119, 124 P.3d 993, 995 (2005); <u>Frasier v.</u> <u>Carter</u>, 92 Idaho 79, 82, 437 P.2d 32, 35 (1968)) ("We have held generally that this court will not review issues not presented in the trial court, and that parties will be held to the theory on which the cause was tried."). Austin did not advance a theory that I.C. 18-8004 was unconstitutionally vague or overbroad before the district court. Nor was there a ruling by the district court regarding the constitutionality of Idaho Code § 18-8004. <u>State v. Pickens</u>, 148 Idaho 554, 557, 224 P.3d 1143, 1146 (Ct. App. 2010) ("In order for an issue to be raised on appeal, the record must reveal an adverse ruling that forms the basis for the assignment of error.") (citations omitted). Therefore Austin is limited to arguing it was fundamental error for the district court to not *sua sponte* rule I.C. § 18-8004 unconstitutional.

Fundamental error is an error that "so profoundly distorts the trial that it produces manifest injustice and deprives the accused of his fundamental right to due process." <u>State v. Lavy</u>, 121 Idaho 842, 844, 828 P.2d 871, 873 (1992). In order to constitute fundamental error the defendant must show that the error: "(1) violates one or more of the defendant's unwaived constitutional rights; (2) plainly exists (without the need for any additional information not contained in the appellate record, including information as to whether the failure to object was a tactical decision); and (3) was not harmless." <u>State v. Perry</u>, 150 Idaho 209, 228, 245 P.3d 961, 980 (2010). Austin's argument on appeal fails all three prongs.

1. <u>Idaho Code § 18-8004 Does Not Violate Austin's Unwaived</u> <u>Constitutional Rights</u>

For the first time on appeal, Austin argues that Idaho Code § 18-8004, as interpreted by <u>Tomlinson</u>, violates his unwaived due process rights because it is void for vagueness and unconstitutionally overbroad. (<u>See</u> Appellant's brief, pp. 24-34.) Both of Austin's arguments fail.

Austin's arguments initially fail because Austin is not actually challenging the constitutionality of Idaho Code § 18-8004 itself. (See Appellant's brief, p. 27.) Instead of arguing I.C. § 18-8004 is unconstitutional, Austin argues that the holding in <u>Tomlinson</u> makes I.C. § 18-8004 unconstitutional. (See id. ("As an initial point, Mr. Austin does not argue that the statute is vague on its face because he asserts that the statute as written allows for a defendant to put on evidence of his alcohol concentration at the time of driving as it is clear that this is the prohibited conduct. Under *Tomlinson*, however, such evidence is supposedly irrelevant.").) Austin's argument is illogical.

If Austin concedes that I.C. § 18-8004 passes constitutional muster, and it is only <u>Tomlinson</u> that is unconstitutional, any constitutional issue is with <u>Tomlinson</u> – not I.C. § 18-8004. Austin should therefore have argued that <u>Tomlinson</u> should be overruled, not that Idaho Code § 18-8004 is unconstitutional.³ Therefore, the basic premise of Austin's argument fails and Austin has failed to meet the first prong of the fundamental error analysis.

³ Presumably this is partially why Austin argued that <u>Tomlinson</u> was wrongly decided. (<u>See</u> Appellant's brief, pp. 10-20.)

a. <u>Idaho Code § 18-8004 Is Not Void-For-Vagueness Because</u> <u>Ordinary People Can Understand What Conduct Is</u> <u>Prohibited</u>

Even if Austin's void-for-vagueness argument is considered, Idaho Code § 18-8004 is not void-for-vagueness. "[T]he void-for-vagueness doctrine requires that a penal statute define the criminal offense with sufficient definiteness that ordinary people can understand what conduct is prohibited and in a manner that does not encourage arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement." <u>State v. Knutsen</u>, 158 Idaho 199, 202, 345 P.3d 989, 992 (2015) (quoting <u>Kolender v. Lawson</u>, 461 U.S. 352, 357 (1983)). "[T]he more important aspect of vagueness doctrine 'is not actual notice, but the other principal element of the doctrine—the requirement that a legislature establish minimal guidelines to govern law enforcement." <u>Id.</u> (quoting <u>Kolender</u>, 461 U.S. at 358). "A criminal defendant that engages in conduct that is clearly proscribed by the statute cannot complain that it may be vague as applied to the conduct of others." <u>Id.</u> (quoting <u>Holder v.</u> <u>Humanitarian Law Project</u>, 561 U.S. 1, 19-20 (2010)).

"A conviction or punishment fails to comply with due process if the statute or regulation under which it is obtained 'fails to provide a person of ordinary intelligence fair notice of what is prohibited, or is so standardless that it authorizes or encourages seriously discriminatory enforcement."" <u>F.C.C. v. Fox</u> <u>Television Stations, Inc.</u>, 567 U.S. 239, 253 (2012) (quoting <u>United States v.</u> <u>Williams</u>, 553 U.S. 285, 304 (2008)). Thus, "the void-for-vagueness doctrine addresses concerns about (1) fair notice and (2) arbitrary and discriminatory prosecutions." <u>Skilling v. United States</u>, 561 U.S. 358, 412 (2010) (citing

<u>Kolender</u>, 461 U.S. at 357). Statutes, however, have a "strong presumption" of validity and the court must, if it can, "construe, not condemn" them. <u>Id.</u> at 402-403 (internal quotes and citations omitted). That "close cases can be envisioned" is insufficient to "render[] a statute vague" because the state must still prove its case beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Williams</u>, 553 U.S. at 305-306. Even if a statute's "outermost boundaries" are "imprecise," such uncertainty has "little relevance" if the "appellant's conduct falls squarely within the 'hard core' of the statute's proscriptions." <u>Broadrick v. Oklahoma</u>, 413 U.S. 601, 608 (1973); <u>see also Skilling</u>, 561 U.S. at 412 (citing <u>Broadrick</u>).

Austin argues that the statute, as interpreted by <u>Tomlinson</u>, "fails to give notice of what the prohibited conduct is because the test result is all that matters." (Appellant's brief, p. 33.) And "in theory, the acts of driving and drinking could be days apart, but the prosecutor could still prosecute." (Id.) Austin's argument fails. The statute, as interpreted by case law, does not fail to provide a person of ordinary intelligence fair notice of what is prohibited. Under the plain language of the statute, a "per se" violation occurs when a person drives or is in actual physical control of a motor vehicle, in a place open to the public, and then provides a test result that shows an alcohol concentration of 0.08 or more. <u>See</u> I.C. 18-8004(1). A person of ordinary intelligence has fair notice of what is prohibited. Austin's extreme hypotheticals of prosecutions based on breath tests administered days after driving does not render the statute void for vagueness. Even if the outermost boundaries of the scope of I.C. § 18-8004 are imprecise and close calls can be envisioned it does not render the

statute unconstitutional. Further, Austin's extreme hypotheticals have little relevance here, because Austin's conduct falls squarely within the "hard core" of Idaho Code § 18-8004's proscriptions. <u>See Broadrick</u>, 413 U.S. at 608. "A criminal defendant that engages in conduct that is clearly proscribed by the statute cannot complain that it may be vague as applied to the conduct of others." <u>Knutsen</u>, 158 Idaho at 202, 345 P.3d at 992. Austin has failed to show Idaho Code § 18-8004 is void-for-vagueness.

b. <u>Idaho Code § 18-8004 Is Not Overbroad Because It Does</u> Not Regulate Any Constitutionally Protected Conduct

Austin has also failed to show Idaho Code § 18-8004 is overbroad. "The overbreadth doctrine is aimed at statutes which, though designed to prohibit legitimately regulated conduct, include within their prohibitions constitutionally protected freedoms." <u>State v. Manzanares</u>, 152 Idaho 410, 423, 272 P.3d 382, 395 (2012) (citing <u>Korsen</u>, 138 Idaho at 713, 69 P.3d at 133). There is a two-part test to determine whether a statute is overbroad:

(1) whether the statute regulates constitutionally protected conduct, and(2) whether the statute precludes a significant amount of that constitutionally protected conduct.

<u>Id.</u> (citing <u>Korsen</u>, 138 Idaho at 713, 69 P.3d at 133). A statute is overbroad if both parts of the test are answered in the affirmative. <u>Id.</u> A statute is not overbroad "merely because it is possible to imagine some unconstitutional applications." <u>Id.</u> at 424, 272 P.3d at 396 (citing <u>Korsen</u>, 138 Idaho at 714, 69 P.3d at 134). "The overbreadth doctrine is 'strong medicine,' and courts employ

it only as a last resort." <u>Id.</u> at 435, 272 P.3d at 407 (citing <u>Broadrick</u>, 413 U.S. at 613).

Here, Austin has failed to show what constitutionally protected conduct is regulated by Idaho Code § 18-8004, and he has failed to show that Idaho Code § 18-8004 precludes a significant amount of that constitutionally protected conduct. (See Appellant's brief, pp. 24-34.) There is no constitutional right to drink and drive. See Elias-Cruz, 153 Idaho at 205, 280 P.3d at 708. Idaho Code § 18-8004 is not overbroad and Austin has failed to establish the first prong of the fundamental error analysis.

2. <u>The Error Is Not Clear From The Record</u>

Austin has failed to show that any error is clear from the record. An error plainly exists if the error is clear from the record and there is not any need for additional information, including information as to whether the failure to object was a tactical decision. <u>See Perry</u>, 150 Idaho at 228, 245 P.3d at 980. On appeal, Austin states "the error is clear from the record as the district court's decision to grant the State's motion was a violation of Mr. Austin's due process rights because, under the dicta in *Elias-Cruz* and *Tomlinson*, the statute was rendered overbroad and void for vagueness as applied, and there was no indication that counsel did not explicitly raise the issue because of some strategic decision." (Appellant's brief, p. 25.) Austin's fails this prong of the fundamental error analysis for the same reason he failed the first prong, because there was no constitutional violation. <u>See supra § II(C)(1)</u>. Even if there was error for the district court to not *sua sponte* rule I.C. § 18-8004 unconstitutional,

that error is certainly not clear from the record. The minimal argument provided by Austin regarding "clear error" has failed to establish any error was clear from the record.

3. <u>Austin Has Failed To Show Any Error Was Not Harmless Because</u> <u>The State Presented An Alternate "Impairment" Theory To The</u> <u>Jury In Addition To The "Per Se" Theory</u>

Austin has failed to show error. Even if there was error, Austin has failed to show the error was not harmless. In order to meet the third prong of the fundamental error analysis, "the defendant must demonstrate that the error affected the defendant's substantial rights, meaning (in most instances) that it must have affected the outcome of the trial proceedings." <u>Perry</u>, 150 Idaho at 226, 245 P.3d at 978. Austin has failed to demonstrate that the error affected the outcome of the trial proceedings.

Austin dedicates one sentence to his harmless error argument. (Appellant's brief, p. 25 ("And finally, violating Mr. Austin's due process rights affected the outcome of the proceedings because it denied him the right to present a defense.").) Austin's harmless error argument focuses solely on the "per se" portion of I.C. § 18-8004. (See Appellant's brief, pp. 24-34.) Specifically that I.C. 18-8004, as interpreted by case law, is unconstitutional because extrapolation evidence is irrelevant. (See id.) However, at trial the state proceeded on both a "per se" theory of DUI and the "impairment" theory. (See 3/14/16 Tr., p. 30, Ls. 1-13; 3/15/16 Add. Tr., p. 207, L. 6 – p. 208, L. 5.) Austin does not claim the outcome of the trial would have been different had he been

permitted to introduce extrapolation evidence in relation to the "per se" theory nor can he because there was substantial evidence that Austin drove while impaired.

Austin crossed multiple traffic lanes without using his turn signal. (3/14/16 Tr., p. 37, L. 4 – p. 40, L. 6.) When Deputy Richardson pulled Austin over he immediately smelled an odor of alcohol. (3/14/16 Tr., p. 41, Ls. 4-19.) Austin's eyes were "a little bloodshot and glassy" and his speech was "a little bit" slow. (Id.) Austin admitted he had "one shot of alcohol." (3/14/16 Tr., p. 42, Ls. 9-19.) Austin failed field sobriety tests. (3/14/16 Tr., p. 45, L. 7 – p. 69, L. 22; R., pp. 16-18.) Austin admitted to Deputy Richardson that he knew he did not do well on the field sobriety tests. (3/14/16 Tr., p. 69, Ls. 10-22.) The deputies had body cameras that recorded the interaction with Austin. (3/14/16 Tr., p. 70, L. 15 - p. 75, L. 10; Exs. 1, 2.) The state's expert, Gary Dawson, reviewed the police reports and the police video, including the recording of the field sobriety tests, and testified Austin was "impaired beyond the ability to safely operate a motor vehicle." (3/15/16 Tr., p. 268, L. 25 – p. 271, L. 21.) The district court offered to let Austin present his expert regarding the "impairment" theory, but Austin declined. (3/14/16 Tr., p. 27, Ls. 4-12, p. 31, Ls. 7-13; 3/15/16 Tr., p. 144, Ls. 18-19.) Thus, the outcome of the trial would not have been different because Austin still would have been convicted under the impairment theory of DUI. Austin has failed to show fundamental error.

CONCLUSION

The state respectfully requests this Court affirm Austin's withheld judgment.